RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-07-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF CO

DISTRICT III CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
CASE NO. 2019AP000201 CR WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHANIEL LEE MATTSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DOUGLAS COUNTY, CASE NO. 17 CM 218 THE HONORABLE GEORGE L. GLONEK, PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

NELSON DEFENSE GROUP

Brian Findley (#1023299) Robert Maxey (#1112746) 811 First Street, Ste. 101 Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-2694

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err when it denied Mr. Mattson's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal where Mr. Mattson testified that he, a person with learning difficulties and diagnosed depression, wrongly believed that the right to plea or go to trial belonged to counsel and not to him, and a recording of a conservation between Mr. Mattson and counsel corroborated his assertions?

Counsel's discussions with Mr. Mattson were recorded and they reveal that counsel dismissed any possibility of a trial, called Mr. Mattson a "dummy" and ignored Mattson's claims that he was innocent and that he could not accept any sentence with probation as it would keep him from seeing his children. The circuit court found that counsel had called Mr. Mattson a "dummy" in a "joking manner" and found Mr. Mattson to not be credible, and it denied Mr. Mattson's postconviction motion.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The facts necessary to resolve this case are largely undisputed as counsel's plea discussions with the defendant were recorded. The facts present an issue of first impression: (1) Where the defendant makes a clear and convincing claim that he did not understand that it was his right and not counsel's to decide and ratify whether to enter a plea, must the trial court shift the burden to the State to prove that he did know that it was his decision? Given this issue, this is a case possibly worthy of publication. Mr. Mattson would welcome oral argument if it would assist the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 2, 2017, the State charged Mr. Mattson with three counts of misdemeanor battery, contrary to Wisconsin Statute § 940.19(1); one count of disorderly conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1); and one count of mistreating animals, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 951.02. On May 10, 2017, the State filed an amended complaint, which modified counts 1, 2, 4, and 5 to include the domestic abuse penalty enhancer under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a), and which left count 3 as previously charged.

Mr. Mattson, who never graduated from high school, failed to pass the GED examination six times, had a court-ordered payee appointed for him, has a "care plan" identifying him as having (1) labile moods, low self-efficacy, shaking, sweating, racing thoughts, obsessive thoughts, overly fearful, social anxiety, childhood abuse trauma; (2) a diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder; (3) a history of suicidal ideation; and (4) a diagnosis of major depressive disorder. (R. 62 at 17; R. 33 at 1–2; R. 34 at 1–3)

On April 16, 2018, Mr. Mattson appeared for a plea and sentencing hearing. (R. 55 at 1.) The trial court, the Hon. George L. Glonek presiding, accepted his pleas to counts 1 and 2. (R. 55 at 8.) Count 1 alleged that he committed misdemeanor battery by hitting Alyssa Crandall, his girlfriend, on the arm multiple times. (R. 2 at 1.) Despite his plea, Mr. Mattson has contended that his conduct was "playful." (R. 35 at 25:28–25:31, 32:17–32:23, 43:54–43:57.) Count 2 alleged that he was

disorderly for yelling, screaming and throwing boiling hot soup at her. (R. 2 at 1.) The complaint does not allege that he harmed anyone by doing so. (R. 2 at 1–3.)

The court accepted Mr. Mattson's guilty pleas, adjudicated him guilty, entered judgments of conviction, withheld sentence on both counts, and placed Mr. Mattson on probation. (R. 55 at 9.) On May 7, 2018 Mr. Mattson timely filed notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.30(2)(b). (R. 19.)

On July 31, 2018 Mr. Mattson filed a motion for postconviction relief. (R. 25.) In it he alleged that he should be allowed to withdraw his pleas because they were not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and because counsel was ineffective. (R. 25.) Specifically, counsel had insulted him, calling him a "dummy," and insisted that he, counsel, did not want to go to trial. (R. 25 at 2,6; R. 35 at 28:23–28:29, 41:53–42:04, 46:24–46:37, 51:44–51:47.) As a result, counsel coerced his plea, and Mr. Mattson did not understand that it was his right and his right alone to determine whether or not to go to trial. (R. 25 at 2,6,8; R. 33 at 1–2.)

In support of his claims, Mr. Mattson's postconviction motion alleged that prior to the plea, he met with counsel in counsel's office and made clear that; (1) he primarily wanted to avoid probation because he did not want to be barred from seeing his children; (2) he did not want to plead guilty to battery or disorderly

¹ These pleas also formed the basis for the revocation of a deferred judgment of conviction ("DJOC") agreement in Douglas County case number 11CF322, which resulted in a conviction for third-degree sexual assault, and carries the requirement of sex offender registration.

conduct because he was not guilty; and (3) he did not want to plead guilty to mistreating animals as he was not guilty of that as well. (R. 25 at 2–3.) Counsel responded by interrogating Mr. Mattson and insulting him. (R. 25 at 3.)

Fortunately, the office visit was recorded. It included the following:

- 1). When Mr. Mattson explained that he acted in self-defense, counsel said the victim was "never gonna be charged." (R. 35 at 32:39–32:41.)
- 2). When Mr. Mattson said that he wanted to go to trial, counsel discouraged him by saying, "What's my argument?" (R. 35 at 37:39–37:40)²
- 3). When Mr. Mattson and his family said that Mr. Mattson did not sexually assault anyone in a different case, counsel responded by saying that the present case was indefensible because Mr. Mattson "had repeated acts of sexual relations with a child" in the prior case. (The victim in the prior case was a 15-year-old teenager with whom Mr. Mattson, then 21-years-old, had mutually agreeable sex). (R. 35 at 38:04–38:12.);
- 4). When Mr. Mattson told counsel that he did not want to plea to battery or disorderly conduct because he did not believe that he was guilty, counsel berated his intelligence, called him a "dummy" but said he was not "retarded." (R. 35 at 10:14–10:16, 51:44–51:47.)

Attached to his postdispositional motion was an affidavit in which he explained:

_

² Mr. Mattson told counsel firmly that he was innocent. *Infra*.

- 1) he never completed high school, and failed six attempts at passing the GED exam;
- (2) he recalled Mr. Zuber calling him a "dummy" during their discussions about the state's offer to resolve his case;
- (3) he did not want to plead guilty and have his lawyer *ask this Court* to put him on probation;
- (4) he only acquiesced to Attorney Zuber's statements that Attorney Zuber "did not want" Mr. Mattson to go to trial because he was fatigued from Attorney Zuber's repeated refusals to even consider the possibility;
- (5) he did not understand and Attorney Zuber never specifically told him that the decision to go to trial was his own, and his alone; and
- (6) but for that failure to explain, Mr. Mattson would not have entered a guilty plea in this case.

(R. 33 at 1-2.)

Mr. Mattson testified at the postdispositional motion hearing that he did not believe that he had a choice concerning the decision to plead guilty based on his conversation with counsel the Friday before his plea. (R. 62 at 30.) He pleaded guilty because counsel "forced [him] to do that." (R. 62 at 30.) He testified that he did not fully understand the consequences of the plea agreement. (R. 62 at 34.)

Attorney Zuber, who represented and counseled Mr. Mattson prior to and during the plea and sentencing hearing, testified that he did not remember using the word "dummy;" he did not take notes of his meeting with Mr. Mattson; did not remember laughing at Mr. Mattson because he did not know the word "tumultuous;" did not remember telling him to be smart; did not remember asking about his education and the fact that Mr. Mattson failed the GED six times; did not ask him if he could write a check; and did not remember telling Mr. Mattson to accept blame. (R. 62 at 48–52.)

The transcript of the recorded pretrial meeting of April 13, 2018, between Mr. Mattson and counsel disproves many of counsel's claims. It was introduced into evidence as Exhibit 3 and the transcript of that meeting was introduced as Exhibit 4 (*see* R. 36). The transcript includes the following statements:

A.	ZUBER:	I want you to wake up and pay – <i>be really smart here</i> – because it's important.
		nere – occause it s important.

(R. 36 at 1.)

B. ZUBER: What did you admit to? MATTSON: *I didn't assault her*.

ZUBER: Same thing. . . . I can work out an agreement where you

plead

to two counts in that complaint, and you can get a

sentence of two years' probation.

(R. 36 at 2.)

C. ZUBER: That [plea deal] sounds easy, *doesn't it*?

MATTSON: Yeah, except for probation. I can't see my kids –

ZUBER: [Interrupting.] Do you think you have to –

(R. 36 at 2.)

D. ZUBER: Your relationship with Alyssa . . . was pretty, what –

tumultuous? Do you know what that word means?

[Laughs.] You don't know tumultuous?

(R. 36 at 3.)

E. ZUBER: [Mr. Mattson] is not focusing on what's important all the

time.

(R. 36 at 5.)

F. ZUBER: Can I say this, just, crassly? To be blunt, you're not

retarded, okay?

MATTSON: That I know.

ZUBER: You're not stupid. Have you ever been declared

incompetent by a court of law? You know what I mean – the word incompetent. Unable to write a check. Can you

write a check?

MATTSON: No.

SISTER: I'm his payee.

ZUBER: I understand that – that wasn't my question.³

(R. 36 at 6.)

G. ZUBER: Your brother, let's just call him your brother, you love

him dearly – would you say he's insane?

SISTER: No, but I think he definitely struggles.

ZUBER: That's not a defense.

(R. 36 at 7.)

H. ZUBER: That's the dumbest thing I've ever said in my life. What's

your opinion of your son? Is he insane?

MOM: No

ZUBER: Is he capable of doing, what, work?

MOM: Nope.

(R. 36 at 7.)

I. ZUBER: Can you understand the newspaper, or what the

newspaper says?

MATTSON: After a while of reading the same sentence over, yes.⁴ ZUBER: Okay, but can you understand, if we, you know, this thing

going on in Syria with the chemical – have you watched the news lately? If you read something about what's going

on . . . [redirecting] Who's the president?

MATTSON: [Silence.] MOM: [Laughs.]

ZUBER: It doesn't matter if you know or not, because a lot of

people don't care. Do you know what month it is?

MATTSON: April.

ZUBER: April of what year?

MATTSON: '18.

ZUBER: Now, if you told me it was April of 1841 and Abraham

Lincoln's the president, I would have you evaluated.

(R. 36 at 7-8.)

_

³ To the contrary, the word "no" was a direct and appropriate response to Attorney Zuber's question – however, it might not have been the one he wished to hear.

⁴ With this statement, Mr. Mattson communicated that he required repetition before he could comprehend even somewhat complicated information that was being communicated to him. The ordinarily prudent lawyer would have seized upon this opportunity, and ensured that Mr. Mattson – at the very least – was able to repeat back to Attorney Zuber, in his own words, the concepts that Attorney Zuber meant to convey. The recording shows that Attorney Zuber did not do so. Nor did such statements appear in the plea hearing record.

J. ZUBER: You're not accused of [sexual assault] here,⁵ but your old

case – tell me what you did in your old case – do you even

remember? This is where is gets embarrassing.

MATTSON: Had sex with a minor.

ZUBER: Huh?

MATTSON: Had sex with a minor.

ZUBER: How old?
MATTSON: Sixteen.
ZUBER: Hm?
MATTSON: Sixteen.

. . .

ZUBER: Pretty touchy stuff, repeated sexual assault of the same

child. At least three violations. Right? . . . Do you think

that she should relive the event?

MATTSON: No.

ZUBER: I don't think he should. Do you? SISTER: I just want him to take it serious.

ZUBER: I do too, and I don't sense he's doing – taking it serious. I

can't have you go to court on Monday and plead to something that you can't even remember. Do you

remember?

(R. 36 at 8,10.)

K. ZUBER: I don't need to pursue this with your mother and your half-

sister, correct?

MATTSON: Right.

ZUBER: Is there some reason you want me to upset him?

SISTER: No, not at all.

ZUBER: You don't want me to go through this with him again –

SISTER: No.

ZUBER: Because I'm satisfied he remembers what he did.

SISTER: Yeah.

ZUBER: I think he's intelligent.⁶

. . .

MATTSON: My anxiety kicks in; I'll black out. I will not remember. It

happens in court.

ZUBER: That is not a defense.⁷

(R. 36 at 11.)

⁵ Attorney Zuber's acknowledgement that 11CF322 was different from 17CM218 makes it difficult to understand why, later in the conversation, Attorney Zuber said that 11CF322 affected the advisability of a plea or not in this case.

⁶ Attorney Zuber never explained the basis for this opinion, given all the information that came to light during the earlier parts of the conversation.

⁷ Again, regardless of whether Mr. Mattson's medical symptoms provide a defense, they are relevant to the whether he was then capable of entering an intelligent, voluntary, and knowing plea.

L. ZUBER: Yeah, yeah, but what I want to do is not have him plead

to all counts. I want to get several counts thrown out, does

that make sense? And have him plead to two.

MOM: I don't think he abused that animal at all.

ZUBER: I don't want him to plead to that, because he told me he

didn't – he told me he didn't.

(R. 36 at 13.)

M. ZUBER: You know what a PSI is? You meet with a probation and

probation prepares their recommendation . . .

MATTSON: Then we're back to sex offender fucking bullshit, and I

don't have money for that. They won't let me around my niece for two years, won't let me around nothing – took

away my whole life.

ZUBER: Tell me ... tell me – tell me, looking back, what you

would've done different, if anything at all, back in April

of last year. March, April.8

(R. 36 at 15.)

N. ZUBER: Tell me what counts one and two are in your own words.

MATTSON: Basically, saying I hit her.

ZUBER: Yup, and you have.

MATTSON: Playfully.

ZUBER: You didn't say that though, is the problem.

MATTSON: I thought I did.

SISTER: It is in the statement that it went both ways. That she

mainly instigated it.

ZUBER: She's never gonna be charged – I'll tell you that, through

experience.

 $(R. 36 at 15.)^9$

O. ZUBER: Yeah, I want to get this resolved so we keep him out of

prison, is my goal.

(R. 36 at 17.)

⁸ This reference to Mr. Mattson's charges in this case is a reference to accusations of which Mr. Mattson was then presumed innocent. Until Mr. Mattson was convicted, he could not end up on probation or on the sex offender registry. Given the disposition at stake, it is difficult to see how the *joint recommendation* for those two results advanced Mr. Mattson's goals of *avoiding* them.

⁹ Mr. Mattson's insistence that he only hit the alleged victim playfully is consistent with defense theories that he neither (1) intended to cause bodily harm, nor (2) caused any bodily harm at all. Moreover, Attorney Zuber's implication in the last line of this excerpt, that the alleged victim would need to be charged for Mr. Mattson to assert self-defense, does not comport with reality.

P. ZUBER: I'm just waiting for him to tell me what he wants to do.

 $(R. 36 at 19.)^{10}$

Q. ZUBER: Do I want you to go to trial on five counts here?

MATTSON: No.

ZUBER: But you made all these incriminating statements. Why?

Then there's no plea agreement on the five misdemeanors,

right?

(R. 36 at 20.)

R. ZUBER: You want to take the two years probation, plead to two

counts. One count of, what?

MATTSON: Domestic ...

ZUBER: Domestic disorderly. Why is it domestic?

MATTSON: Because there was another person involved, I think.

ZUBER: If your mom smacked you against the head right now, with a closed fist, would that be a domestic against her, if

she got caught?

MATTSON: Yes.

ZUBER: Why? Because she's ...

MOM: Related.¹¹

(R. 36 at 22-23.)

S. ZUBER: So tell me what the offer is.

MATTSON: 2 years' probation. No prison time. 12

ZUBER: Plea to what?

MATTSON: Two counts of domestic. ZUBER: What's the first count?

MATTSON: Abuse.

ZUBER: Domestic abuse what? Disorderly?

MATTSON: Yeah.

ZUBER: Domestic abuse what?

MATTSON: Same thing. ZUBER: Battery. MATTSON: Oh.

ZUBER: What's the difference between battery and disorderly,

dummy?

(R. 36 at 24.)

O Apparently Attorney Zuber

¹⁰ Apparently, Attorney Zuber missed the several times Mr. Mattson told him that he wanted to pursue a legal avenue that would avoid probation. (R 36 at 2,14–15,17.) Two such avenues existed: (1) jury trial, and (2) a contested sentencing where, *at the very least*, Attorney Zuber would retain the right not to *jointly recommend* that which Mr. Mattson told him to work to avoid.

¹¹ Notably, Mr. Mattson never explained in his own words, the concept of what makes a charge "domestic." His mother answered the question for him.

¹² Attorney Zuber failed to correct Mr. Mattson's misunderstanding that there was *not* an agreement for "no prison time." In fact, per the plea hearing record, there was no sentencing agreement on 11CF322 at all.

T. ZUBER: Okay. You good to go for Monday? You're not going anywhere Monday, you with me? Just probation after court. You with me?¹³

(R. 36 at 26.)

Mr. Mattson and his loved ones told Attorney Zuber on at least six (6) occasions over the course of the hourlong conversation that he could not simply agree to probation. The *number of convictions* was not the important factor to Mr. Mattson; rather, the *disposition* was the most important part of the equation. (R. 36 at 2,14–15,17,22–23.) For example:

- "Yeah except for probation. I can't see my kids -." [Interrupted by Attorney Zuber.] (R. 36 at 2.)
- "*The only problem with probation, I can't* –." [Interrupted by Attorney Zuber.] (R. 36 at 14.)
- "Then we're back to sex offender fucking bullshit, and I don't have money for that. They won't let me around my niece for two years, won't let me around nothing took away my whole life." (R. 36 at 15.)
- "But, probation, I lose my child custody –." [Interrupted by Attorney Zuber.] (R. 36 at 17.)
- [Acquiescing.] "So obviously I'm taking probation. But then I lose my life." (R. 36 at 22.)
- "The thing with probation is, he loses –." "I lose my kid." (R. 36 at 23.)

During the final lengthy consultation prior to Mr. Mattson's plea, Attorney Zuber never said: "Okay, then we can have a trial," "The decision of whether to go trial is yours alone," or anything making it clear to Mr. Mattson that the ultimate decision of trial-or-not was the client's – not the attorney's. Rather, Attorney Zuber told Mr. Mattson during their meeting that he was "not gonna let [Mr. Mattson] plead" to the charges unless he agreed to let Mr. Mattson do so. (R. 35 at 19:18–19:20.)

¹³ Attorney Zuber was aware that Mr. Mattson would be pleading to two misdemeanors, and that this Court would have been within its rights to order a jail sentence forthwith, despite any agreement regarding sentencing recommendations. Attorney Zuber thus misled his client about the possible likely outcomes prior to the plea hearing.

On November 14, 2018, the trial court denied Mr. Mattson's postconviction motion. (R. 46 at 13.) According to the court, counsel testified that he went over the rights Mr. Mattson was waiving by entering a plea, the court conducted a thorough colloquy, and the defendant signed a Plea Waiver Form and Questionnaire. (R. 46 at 6–8.) For the court, this was enough to demonstrate that Mr. Mattson's plea was constitutionally adequate. In addition, the court found Mr. Mattson's claim that he did not understand that it was his right to choose whether to plead belonged to him and not to counsel was not credible. (R. 46 at 9.) The court found the tone of counsel's conversation with the defendant to be conversational rather than threatening, bullying, or confrontational. (R. 46 at 10.) The court found the reference to the defendant being a "dummy" to "have been done in a somewhat joking manner." (R. 46 at 10.)

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred when it denied Mr. Mattson's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal based on Mr. Mattson's undisputed claim that he, a person with learning difficulties and diagnosed depression, wrongly believed that the right to plea or go to trial must be made and ratified by counsel and not by him.

A. Introduction and Standard of Review

This Court must allow Mr. Mattson to withdraw his plea because he did not understand that it was his right alone to decide whether to enter his plea. His preplea discussion of whether to go to trial or not was recorded, and it supports his claim that he did not understand that it was his right alone to decide whether to enter a plea or go to trial. Throughout the discussion, counsel belittled Mr. Mattson calling

him a "dummy" and cajoling him to "be really smart." (R. 35 at 0:47–0:50, 51:44–51:47, 54:04–54:08.) At one point, counsel said, "I'm not gonna let you plead…." (R. 35 at 19:18–19:20.) By ignoring this clear and undisputed recording, the trial court misused its discretion when it found that Mr. Mattson had not established a *prima facie* case that his plea was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The trial court further erred when it did not shift the burden to the State to prove that Mr. Mattson did know that it was his right alone as indeed it could not.

The right to enter a plea belongs to a client, see ABA Criminal Justice Standards for the Defense Function 4-5.2(b)(i)(2015) and SCR 20:1.2, and a plea cannot be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary where a defendant does not understand that the decision to plea or go to trial – that is, the decision to exercise a fundamental constitutional right – is his, and his alone, to make rather than one made and ratified by the defense attorney. Wis. Stat. § 971.08, does not specifically require that a court engage a defendant in a plea colloquy that informs a defendant that it is his right to choose whether to enter a plea, rather than a decision made and ratified by counsel, but compliance with that statute does not make a plea constitutionally adequate. The statute is merely "designed to assist the trial court in making the constitutionally required determination that a defendant's plea is voluntary." State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 261, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). Misunderstanding about who the right to enter a plea belongs to is so fundamental, that it requires a court to allow plea withdrawal as a matter of right. *Id*. at 283 (denial of constitutional right entitles defendant to withdraw his plea as a matter of right).

Whether Mr. Mattson's guilty plea was "knowing and voluntary" is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 19, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. In reviewing whether Mr. Mattson has shown sufficient grounds to permit withdrawal of his guilty plea, this Court will accept the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous, but it determines independently whether those facts demonstrate that the Mr. Mattson's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Id.* In *Bangert*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court created the following process for determining whether defendants should be entitled to withdraw a plea on the grounds that it is not knowing, intelligent and voluntary. According to the Court:

Where the defendant has shown a *prima facie* violation of <u>Section 971.08(1)(a)</u> **or other mandatory duties**, and alleges that he in fact did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing, the burden will then shift to the state to show by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered, despite the inadequacy of the record at the time of the plea's acceptance.

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