# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-26-2019

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP000201-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHANIEL LEE MATTSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DOUGLAS COUNTY, CASE NO. 17CM218 THE HONORABLE GEORGE GLONEK PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Mark Fruehauf District Attorney, Douglas County State Bar #1034295

Attorney for Plaintiff Respondent

Douglas County District Attorney's Office 1313 Belknap St., Room 201 Superior, WI 54880 715-395-1218 715-395-1481 (fax) mark.fruehauf@da.wi.gov

###

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Clear and convincing evidence exists in the record that the defendant's plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made, and the defendant has not shown that trial counsel was ineffective or that prejudice resulted from any ineffectiveness.

Whether a defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 19, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, the defendant must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in "manifest injustice." Id. at ¶ 18. The circuit court, sitting as fact-finder, is the ultimate arbiter of witnesses' credibility. State v. Peppertree Resort Villas, Inc., 2002 WI App 207, ¶ 19, 257 Wis.2d 421, 651 N.W.2d 345.

With regard to the alleged deficiency of a plea colloquy, a defendant must make a prima facie showing that the plea colloquy was defective because the court violated \$ 971.08 or other court-mandated duties, and that in fact the defendant did not know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea colloquy. State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, \$ 27, 201 Wis.2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48. If a defendant establishes a prima facie showing that the

plea colloquy was defective, then the burden shifts to the State to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that the plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Id. at ¶ 40. The State may rely on evidence outside the plea hearing transcript in order to make this showing. State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 47, 317 Wis.2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794. If the State carries its burden, the plea remains valid. Id. at ¶ 44.

With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel, in Strickland v. Washington, the Supreme Court set forth a two-part test for determining whether trial counsel's actions constitute ineffective assistance. The defendant must first show that counsel's performance was sufficient, and must then also demonstrate that this deficient performance was prejudicial to his or her defense. 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In order to satisfy the prejudice prong, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985); State v. Bentley, 201 Wis.2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

In this case, Mattson asserts two claims which are incompatible and incongruent. On the one hand, Mattson seeks to withdraw his plea because, at the time the plea

was made, he asserts he did not know it was his decision whether to accept a plea agreement (the Bangert claim). Yet, at the same time, Mattson asserts that Attorney Zuber "bullied" and "browbeat" Mattson into accepting the plea agreement (the Strickland claim). The former indicates a lack of knowledge about his rights. The latter indicates the opposite, that he did know his rights but the will to exercise those rights in the manner in which he wanted was overcome by the coercive tactics of another. Either Mattson did not know whose decision it was to accept a plea, or he did know and his attorney coerced him into giving up that right against his will. It cannot be both, and yet that is what Mattson is claiming here.

The only time during this case that Mattson indicated that he believed his lawyer was in control of whether he could accept a plea, or alternatively that his lawyer bullied him into taking a deal he did not want to accept, was at his postconviction motion hearing. At that hearing, the trial court found Mattson to lack credibility, a finding that is supported by the record. First, Mattson's credibility is obviously an issue because his claims made at the postconviction motion hearing directly contradict what Mattson told the judge during the colloquy (that no one had threatened or promised him anything to get him to

enter this plea), and directly contradict the plea questionnaire (wherein he affirmed that no one forced him to enter the plea and that he had gone over the form with his lawyer). Additionally, Mattson testified at the postconviction motion hearing on cross-examination that he had had no discussions about the plea questionnaire form with Attorney Zuber. He then contradicted himself again on re-direct when he testified that Attorney Zuber directed him to fill out information on the form regarding his satisfaction with Attorney Zuber. After Mattson testified that Attorney Zuber bullied him into accepting the plea agreement, Mattson was unable to reconcile why Attorney Zuber would have to bully Mattson into doing anything if the decision whether to accept a deal was solely Attorney Zuber's to make.

Mattson claims that Attorney Zuber's conduct, three days removed from the actual plea hearing itself, coerced him into taking the plea deal. In particular, Mattson points to one moment from his meeting with Attorney Zuber on April 13, 2018, less than 20 minutes into the conversation, where Attorney Zuber says he is not going to let Mattson plead unless they went over the file again. At numerous points after that is stated, however, the transcript conclusively establishes that Mattson understood

it was his decision to accept or reject the deal and that this isolated comment did not confuse that understanding.

Following the 45-minute mark of the conversation after much has been discussed about the case and Mattson's rights, Mattson shows an understanding that he is the one making the decision about "taking probation," which was what the plea offer contemplated. Attorney Zuber confirms with Mattson, "You want to take the two years probation, plead to two counts?" Attorney Zuber later says to Mattson, regarding the plea agreement, "So let's grab this thing. Do I have your permission?" to which Mattson replied, "Yes." If there was any sort of confusion about who could accept a plea agreement (which the State does not concede), it plainly was not present at the end of the meeting when Attorney Zuber repeatedly defers to Mattson on whether to accept the agreement, including asking his permission to "grab" it, as well as Mattson repeatedly indicating the agreement is his to take.<sup>2</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mattson repeatedly argues that, because his goals at the outset of the case were to avoid a conviction and probation and that either outcome was "unacceptable," his eventual acceptance of both of those things must have been the result of Attorney Zuber bullying and browbeating him into accepting them. There is a difference between unacceptable and undesirable. While Mattson no doubt hoped for a better outcome, his lawyer went through the facts of the case with him and pointed out that only one conviction would be required to terminate the deferred judgment of conviction agreement. Mattson conceded that he engaged in conduct that would support at least one new criminal conviction, if not more. Faced with this information, Attorney Zuber explained to Mattson

The plea questionnaire form and the record from the plea hearing further dispel any notion that Mattson believed that Attorney Zuber alone had the right to accept a plea agreement. Boxes are checked regarding Mattson's constitutional rights that he is giving up. On the second page of the form, the form explicitly states "I have not been threatened or forced to enter this plea," refuting a claim that his attorney forced him to take a plea he did not want to take. Mattson signed the form indicating he had gone through it with his lawyer and understood it.

Mattson then affirmed on the record during the colloquy that he had gone through the plea questionnaire, and that no one had threatened or promised him anything to get him to give up his rights and plead guilty.

The trial court specifically found, after reviewing the audiotape from the April 13 meeting and reviewing the transcript of the same, that the tone of the entire conversation was conservational, and sometimes jovial. The court specifically found that Attorney Zuber was not threatening, bullying, or inappropriately confronting Mattson during this meeting. These findings are supported by review of the transcript and the recording itself.

why going to trial and losing (which was substantially likely) would be worse than accepting a plea agreement now.

Attorney Zuber did not inappropriately threaten or coerce Mattson into taking a deal, particularly when one considers that his final decision to accept the deal was three days removed from what Mattson now says is the browbeating and bullying that forced him to plead quilty. While the State does not condone some of the language used by Attorney Zuber (particularly this reference to Mattson being a "dummy"), the trial court found that this comment was done in a somewhat joking manner, and not in the mean, forceful, or bullying manner Mattson wants this Court to believe happened. When considering the dynamics of their relationship, it is worth noting that Attorney Zuber was sought out by Mattson at the outset of this case, partly because of his familiarity with him, and no doubt also because Attorney Zuber had secured him a very favorable result on his 2011 sexual assault file. It is not as if this was the one and only time Mattson met with Attorney Zuber, did not have any familiarity with him, and was browbeaten into submission by the scary authority figure he makes Zuber out to be. To the contrary; Mattson and Attorney had known each other for years and had met several times and discussed the case. Viewing this April 13 conversation in a vacuum is not appropriate (and even if it is viewed in a vacuum, it still is not the coercive meeting Mattson makes it out to be now).

In its written hearing memorandum, the trial court made specific reference to the unpublished case of State v. White, 2015 WI App 20, 360 Wis.2d 491, 864 N.W.2d 121, a case involving the same trial court, virtually the same plea colloquy, and the same sort of Bangert claim as this case. The White court affirmed the trial court's decision to deny White's motion to withdraw his plea. Mattson does not discuss this case in his brief.

The only difference between this case and White is what is claimed to be the part of the plea agreement not understood by the defendant. In White, the claim was that White did not understand what an imposed and stayed sentence was<sup>3</sup>. Id. at ¶ 22. The trial court concluded, and this Court agreed, that ample evidence existed in the record to show, by clear and convincing evidence, that White's plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made. In White, this Court looked to the testimony of trial counsel (who contradicted his client and testified that he had explained to him what an imposed and stayed

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The White court noted that this trial court did not explicitly rule on whether a prima facie showing had been made, but affirmed the trial court based on evidence received at the motion hearing. Similarly, the trial court here did not explicitly rule on whether a prima facie showing had been made. White,  $\P$  22.

sentence was), the contents of the plea questionnaire itself wherein the concept of an imposed and stayed sentence is explained, and the fact that the trial court explained the concept during the colloquy itself. Id. This was also buttressed by the trial court's finding that White was not a credible witness after hearing him testify.  $^4$  Id. at ¶ 23.

In this case, the only major difference between White and Mattson for purposes of a Bangert analysis is that Mattson claims he did not know it was his decision to enter a plea and thought it was his attorney's decision. Just like in White, Mattson's claim is contradicted by his own counsel, the plea questionnaire, the colloquy with the trial court, and additionally by the transcript of his attorney meeting three days before the plea.

In sum, Mattson's claim that he should be allowed to withdraw his plea because he did not know the decision whether to accept the plea was his fails. The evidence establishes clearly and convincingly that Mattson knew the decision was his. At numerous points on April 13, at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the transcript of the April 13 meeting, the plea questionnaire form, and Mattson's answers during the plea colloquy all support the conclusion that Mattson knew it was his decision whether to accept a deal and that no one had forced him to take any deal, contrary to Mattson's arguments now, his credibility at the time of the motion hearing is extremely important, since it is the one and only time during this case that he asserted he did not understand whose decision it was whether to accept a plea offer.

end of the nearly hour-long conversation about the case,

Mattson talks about the deal he will take and Attorney

Zuber asks Mattson's permission to accept it.

Similarly, Mattson's claim that Attorney Zuber was ineffective and that Mattson was prejudiced by any ineffectiveness fails. The trial court specifically found that the April 13 meeting on which Mattson now places so much emphasis was not the coercive, bullying encounter that Mattson makes it out to be. Additionally, on the plea questionnaire, Mattson acknowledges the rights he is waiving and that no one forced him to accept the plea.

During the plea colloquy, Mattson acknowledged that he knew his rights and that no one had promised him or threatened him to get him to plead guilty.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this Court to affirm the trial court and deny Mattson's request to vacate the judgments of conviction and permit him to withdraw his guilty pleas in this matter.